FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/14/2025 4:25 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. (COA NO. 58621-5-II) Case #: 1043856

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BILLY SCOTT SIGMON,

Petitioner.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

MATTHEW FOLENSBEE Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Billy Scott Sigmon, petitioner here and below, asks this Court for review.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Mr. Sigmon asks for review of the Court of Appeals' decision issued on April 15, 2025, for which reconsideration was denied on June 12, 2025, pursuant to RAP 13.3 and 13.4(b). App. A (slip opinion); App. B (order denying reconsideration).

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whenever it is within reasonable probabilities that the trial court's erroneous exclusion of evidence materially affected the jury's verdict, each affected count requires reversal. Here, the prosecution jointly tried Mr. Sigmon for two accusers' near-identical allegations, and the court authorized the jury to rely on *all* the evidence when deliberating on each count. The Court of Appeals agreed the trial court erroneously excluded statements that impacted one accuser's veracity. But it reversed only one

count, viewing these errors in a vacuum and failing to assess their impact on the jurors' assessment of the other accuser's near-identical allegations. The Court of Appeals constructed arbitrary new limitations on the established principles governing the analysis of prejudice resulting from evidentiary errors.

2. A court deprives the accused of their Sixth Amendment right to present a defense when it unduly prevents them from presenting evidence that casts doubt on their accusers' credibility. This Court has directed appellate courts to first address evidentiary errors before proceeding to the asserted violation of the constitutional right to present a defense. But the Court of Appeals must proceed to the full Sixth Amendment analysis when it does not reverse a count on nonconstitutional grounds. Here, the trial court deprived Mr. Sigmon of the right to present a complete defense to the four charges he faced, violating Sixth Amendment rights. The Court of Appeals failed to even address this constitutional violation, misapplying this

Court's Sixth Amendment precedents.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. After the trial court excludes evidence that cast doubt on his accusers' near-identical allegations, a jury convicts Mr. Sigmon of four counts of child molestation.

Billy Scott Sigmon was a bus driver for the Franklin-

Pierce School District. 7/17/23 RP 145. Encouraged by a sister who was involved in foster care, Mr. Sigmon became a licensed foster parent himself. 7/24/23 RP 56-57, 61. Mr. Sigmon fostered countless children over the years, adopting one son, J.S., but thereafter declining to adopt any other foster children.

7/24/23 RP 56.

The joint trial in this case involved near-identical allegations of abuse brought against Mr. Sigmon by two of his former foster children, J.C. and D.J. 7/17/23 RP 104-22; 7/18/23 RP 195-213.

J.C. and D.J. made their allegations several years after their respective foster stays with the Sigmons. *Id*. No physical evidence supported either J.C.'s allegation (count 1) or D.J.'s allegations (counts 2-4). J.C.'s social worker testified that J.C. never reported any abuse by Mr. Sigmon until years later, nor did anyone indicate D.J. made any earlier reports. 7/18/23 RP 184. The prosecutor acknowledged each count hinged on whether J.C. and D.J.'s testimony was credible. 7/24/23 RP 122-23.

Mr. Sigmon's defense as to both accusers at the joint trial was that J.C. and D.J. resented having to leave Mr. Sigmon's home rather than being adopted by him, and that Mr. Sigmon's disabilities would have made it impossible for him to perform the acts of abuse they alleged. 7/24/23 RP 37-38, 65-70. J.C. and D.J. alleged similar acts of abuse. Both alleged that Mr. Sigmon called the respective foster child into his bedroom, invited him into bed, and engaged in inappropriate sexual touching. 7/17/23 RP 104-22; 7/18/23 RP 195-213.

Mr. Sigmon sought to introduce testimony from his adopted son, J.S., and his biological daughter, Melissa Ruzich,

to show that J.C. and D.J.'s allegations were retaliatory fabrications.

J.S. would have testified that J.C. was prematurely removed from Mr. Sigmon's foster care because of his hostility towards J.S., and that, during J.C.'s foster stay, J.C. spoke about wanting Mr. Sigmon to "unadopt" J.S. and adopt J.C. instead. 7/17/23 RP 159-60; 7/24/23 RP 17-20. Ms. Ruzich would have testified that, at the end of J.C.'s foster stay, J.C. threatened her that he would "get back at" Mr. Sigmon and his family. 7/24/23 RP 61, 67-75.

J.S. would have also testified that the accusations in this case arose a few weeks after J.S. ran into J.C. at a YMCA, where J.S.'s remark that things were going well at home triggered J.C. to angrily report he had been forced to bounce between foster homes for years since the Sigmons had him removed from their home. 7/24/23 RP 17-20. J.C.'s own testimony acknowledged Mr. Sigmon was his first foster parent and that J.C. bounced between 17 foster homes after having to leave. 7/17/23 RP 102. D.J. likewise went through 30 foster placements. 7/18/23 RP 193. J.C. and D.J. made their accusations after J.C.'s YMCA encounter with J.S. 7/24/23 RP 17-20.

Regarding D.J., Ms. Ruzich testified that D.J. bonded with the Sigmon family during his lengthy foster stay, referring to J.S., Ms. Ruzich, and Mr. Sigmon as his "brother," "sister," and "Dad." 7/24/23 RP 78-81. D.J. had spoken to Ms. Ruzich about wanting Mr. Sigmon to adopt him. *Id.* J.S. and Ms. Ruzich testified that, after D.J. was moved to a new foster home, he would repeatedly return uninvited to the Sigmon family's home. 7/24/23 RP 35-39, 78-81. J.S. explained how D.J. "would show up randomly at all times of the night" and that this occurred at least six times. 7/24/23 RP 36-39. Even after Mr. Sigmon's family moved homes, D.J. would continue to text J.S. requesting the new address. *Id*.

When D.J. came to the home, he would beg Mr. Sigmon not to inform the social worker or have D.J. picked up. *Id*. Mr. Sigmon would "[sit D.J.] down in the living room, explain[], we got to do the right thing. You're growing up. You have to be responsible," and call the social worker. 7/24/23 RP 81. These persistent behaviors contributed to Mr. Sigmon's decision not to pursue adoption of D.J. 7/24/23 RP 39.

D.J.'s own social worker likewise confirmed D.J. repeatedly returned to the Sigmon home long after his foster placement there ended. 7/20/23 RP 284-86. D.J. had later indicated to his social worker that he wished to be placed with Mr. Sigmon again. *Id.* However, the social worker testified that Mr. Sigmon was supportive of the social worker's efforts to help D.J. thrive in subsequent foster homes without absconding, and for D.J. to eventually reunify with his biological family. 7/20/23 RP 288.

Despite, this evidence, D.J. insisted that, after he was moved to his next foster home, he wished never to return to the Sigmon home, and he never attempted to do so. 7/18/23 RP 208. J.S. and Ms. Ruzich also testified that Mr. Sigmon's severe back problems largely restricted him to a living room recliner because he could not get up and down on his own, he did not use the bed where J.C. and D.J. both described their allegations as taking place, and he physically could not have performed the acts described. 7/24/23 RP 31-32, 58-65.

At the prosecution's request, and over Mr. Sigmon's objections, the trial court excluded all the testimony relating to J.C.'s resentment towards the family and motive to lie. Variously citing evidentiary rules on relevance, hearsay, ER 403, and ER 404(b), the trial court excluded the testimony regarding J.S.'s YMCA encounter with a resentful J.C., J.C.'s expressed wish for Mr. Sigmon to "unadopt" J.S. and adopt J.C. instead, any evidence relating to J.C.'s hostility towards J.S. in the Sigmon home, and J.C.'s threat to "get back at" Mr. Sigmon and his family. 7/17/23 RP 159-60; 7/24/23 RP 17-20, 61, 67-75. The jury convicted Mr. Sigmon of all four counts. CP 65-71. Despite Mr. Sigmon's lack of criminal history, the court sentenced him to over a decade-and-a-half in prison, which he will likely not survive. CP 80-97.

b. The Court of Appeals reverses count 1 for the evidentiary errors but finds those errors harmless to counts 2-4 without performing a Sixth Amendment analysis.

On appeal, Mr. Sigmon argued the trial court violated his due process right to a meaningful opportunity to present a defense by excluding J.C.'s statements that established a vindictive motive to fabricate these allegations. Br. of Appellant 8-18.

Mr. Sigmon argued these errors prejudiced him as to each of the four counts in the joint trial. Br. of Appellant 16-18. He argued that, because D.J.'s allegations were markedly similar to J.C.'s, and because D.J. had the same cause for resentment as J.C. and thus a similar motive to lie, the errors likely affected the jurors' determination of whether D.J.'s allegations were credible. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion by excluding J.C.'s statements about wanting Mr. Sigmon to "unadopt" J.S. in J.C.'s favor, and his threat to Ms. Ruzich upon his removal from the Sigmon home that he would "get back at" Mr. Sigmon and his family. Slip op. at 8-12. The Court of Appeals disposed of the errors on nonconstitutional evidentiary grounds without reaching the violation of Mr. Sigmon's constitutional right to present a defense. Slip op. at 13 n. 4.

However, while the Court of Appeals reversed the J.C. count, it found that the prejudice from the trial court's numerous errors did not extend to D.J.'s counts. Slip op. at 12-14. The Court of Appeals reasoned that Mr. Sigmon "does not assign error to any trial court rulings regarding D.J.," "nothing in the record indicates that D.J. had a motive to lie similar to J.C.'s motive," and "the evidence regarding the crimes against

J.C. and those against D.J. was distinct." Slip op. at 14.

Mr. Sigmon made a motion to reconsider the decision affirming counts 2-4, again arguing that the erroneous exclusion of J.C.'s impeaching statements also likely affected the jurors' assessment of whether D.J.'s inconsistent and highly contradicted testimony was credible.

The Court of Appeals had the State file an answer, but ultimately denied Mr. Sigmon's motion to reconsider.

#### E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The prejudice from the evidentiary errors extended to all four counts, which the Court of Appeals failed to recognize because it placed unprecedented and arbitrary restrictions on its prejudice analysis.

Review is warranted because this petition involves constitutional issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals effectively holds that, where a trial court erroneously excludes statements by one accuser in a multi-accuser joint trial, the prejudicial effect to the accused is only cognizable in counts pertaining to the particular accuser whose statements were excluded.

No precedent supports this arbitrary restriction, which relieves courts of their duty to use common sense in ascertaining the full extent of the prejudice flowing from evidentiary errors.

### a. The evidentiary errors recognized by the Court of Appeals require reversal of all four counts, not just count 1.

Because it is "within reasonable probabilities" the erroneous exclusion of J.C.'s impeaching statements materially affected the jury's deliberations on the three counts involving D.J., reversal of counts 2-4 is required. *State v. Barry*, 183 Wn.2d 297, 303, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals recognized that the trial court's erroneous exclusion of J.C.'s impeaching statements was an abuse of discretion that could have led a rational juror to "believe Sigmon's theory that J.C. lied," and reversed count 1. Slip op. at 1-2, 13. However, it affirmed counts 2-4 because it found that Mr. Sigmon "does not assign error to any trial court rulings regarding D.J.," "nothing in the record indicates that D.J. had a motive to lie similar to J.C.'s motive," and "the evidence regarding the crimes against J.C. and those against D.J. was distinct." Slip op. at 14.

The Court of Appeals refused to acknowledge the impact of the erroneously withheld evidence for invalid and arbitrary reasons. The fact that Mr. Sigmon assigned error to the court's ruling excluding statements by J.C. does not mean the errors did not affect the trial as a whole, including D.J.'s counts. The harmless error analysis applies to all counts before the jury, and asks only whether, "within reasonable probabilities, the outcome [as to a given count] would have been materially affected had the error[s] not occurred." *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 303.

No precedent supports the notion that erroneously admitted or excluded statements cannot impact the jury's

deliberations on other counts. For example, erroneously admitted testimony about a defendant's prior bad act is frequently prejudicial as to a count, even though such testimony is *necessarily* about allegations other than those contained in the charged count itself. ER 404(b); *see, e.g., State v. Gogo*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 107, 114-20, 540 P.3d 150, 156 (2023) (testimony that defendant "had been fooling around with *those kids*" deprived defendant of fair trial in severed proceeding on molestation of one child).

Here, the truthfulness of J.C.'s allegations was highly relevant to a logical juror's assessment of the truthfulness of D.J.'s allegations.

The trial court never instructed the jurors not to consider evidence pertaining to the alleged abuse of J.C., J.C.'s testimony, or their assessment of J.C.'s credibility, in assessing D.J.'s credibility or the veracity of D.J.'s allegations of abuse. CP 44-64 (court's instructions to the jury). Instead, the trial court gave the jury only the narrow procedural instruction that "[y]our *verdict* on one count should not *control* your verdict on any other count," taking no steps to limit the logical impulse of the jury to decide each count in reliance on all the *evidence* before it at trial. CP 49 (emphasis added). Indeed, the court instructed the jury that "[e]ach party is entitled to the benefit of *all* of the evidence," and that the jury "*must* consider *all* of the evidence" that appears relevant to any given proposition. CP 45 (emphasis added).

The jury's assessment of J.C.'s credibility likely affected its deliberations as to the abuse alleged by D.J. It would have been a reasonable, indeed inescapable, application of common sense for a juror who thought J.C.'s account credible to conclude that this made it far likelier that D.J.'s markedly similar story was also true.

Where the jurors were instead improperly shielded from statements that may have led a rational juror to "believe Sigmon's theory that J.C. lied," as the Court of Appeals held,

there is therefore a reasonable probability this materially affected the jury's conclusion that D.J.'s mirror-image allegations were also true. Slip op. at 13.

Both accusers in this joint trial had received foster care in Mr. Sigmon's home. 7/17/23 RP 101-03; 7/18/23 RP 193. Both regretted or resented having to leave Mr. Sigmon's home after their foster care periods ended, with J.C. making threats, and D.J. repeatedly returning to the Sigmon home before insisting at trial that he had never done so. 7/24/23 RP 37-38, 65-70. The prosecution tried Mr. Sigmon for both accusers' allegations in a single trial, and Mr. Sigmon pursued a unified defense theory as to both accusers – that both accusers brought these false allegations because they both resented being made to leave Mr. Sigmon's home rather than being adopted, and that Mr. Sigmon physically could not have committed the near-identical acts of abuse they both alleged. 7/24/23 RP 37-38, 65-70.

J.C. and D.J.'s testimony was the only evidence against Mr. Sigmon. At trial, the prosecution conceded that, with respect to both the J.C. count and the D.J. counts, the case came down to the jurors' assessments of the accusers' credibility. 7/24/23 RP 122-23.

On its own, the evidence supporting D.J.'s allegations of abuse, consisting only of his own testimony, was highly suspect. D.J.'s testimony was internally inconsistent, *see* 7/18/23 RP 208-13, and severely undercut by other evidence.

Most notably, D.J. testified that, after his period of foster care with Mr. Sigmon ended, he wished never to return to Mr. Sigmon's house, and never attempted to do so. 7/18/23 RP 208.

On the contrary, multiple witnesses testified that D.J., like J.C., had expressed his desire to be adopted by Mr. Sigmon, and that he had repeatedly returned to the home after his foster stay. 7/24/23 RP 37-38, 80-81. D.J.'s own social worker testified that he repeatedly returned to Mr. Sigmon's house after the foster care period, contrary to D.J.'s insistence had not. 7/20/23 RP 284-86. Mr. Sigmon had to call D.J.'s social worker each time to have D.J. picked up. 7/24/23 RP 36-

39, 81. D.J.'s social worker testified D.J. specifically spoke to her about his wish to be returned to Mr. Sigmon's care. 7/20/23 RP 284-86.

The Court of Appeals's view that "nothing in the record indicates that D.J. had a motive to lie similar to J.C.'s motive" unduly proscribes the jury's broad and exclusive discretion to draw reasonable inferences. Slip op. at 14; *see* CP 51; *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wn.2d 703, 707, 974 P.2d 832 (1999). The jury certainly could have believed the testimony that D.J. repeatedly returned to the home after the foster care period and that he expressed a wish to be adopted. The jury could have concluded that D.J.'s false denial of this history demonstrated his resentment towards the Sigmons for not adopting him into the family and his motive to make these false accusations against Mr. Sigmon.

There is a reasonable probability the jury's assessment that J.C. had testified truthfully when he made similar allegations materially affected the jury's ultimate conclusion that D.J. was also telling the truth. D.J.'s inconsistent testimony contradicted that of other witnesses, including his own social worker. There was no evidence whatsoever besides D.J.'s own testimony, and J.C.'s mirror-image claim of abuse, to support D.J.'s claims that Mr. Sigmon abused him. It is likely the jury's belief in J.C.'s credibility led any jurors who were on the fence about D.J.'s testimony or would have harbored reasonable doubts about it to instead conclude that D.J.'s testimony was, on the whole, true despite its serious inconsistencies.

It makes no difference to a prejudice analysis that it would have arguably been legally *improper* for the jury to rely on the testimony regarding J.C., or its belief in the credibility of J.C.'s testimony, in assessing the veracity of D.J.'s claims. Had the trial court instructed the jury to ignore all evidence and testimony relating to J.C. when deliberating as to the three D.J. counts, the respective counts between the two accusers might indeed have been adequately insulated to support the holding that "evidentiary error regarding J.C. does not affect [Mr.

Sigmon's] convictions involving D.J." Slip op. at 2. *But the trial court gave no such instruction*. The trial court's instructions left the jury free to rely on their assessments of J.C.'s credibility and allegation of similar abuse in the jury's deliberations on Counts 2-4 regarding D.J.

Contrary to the State's arguments, Mr. Sigmon need not assert or demonstrate that the trial court erred by failing to sever the counts or by failing to include instructions compartmentalizing the evidence. *See* Answer to Motion for Reconsideration 2-10. The Court of Appeals has already recognized that the trial court erred by excluding evidence that suggested that J.C. may have fabricated his allegation against Mr. Sigmon. The question of *prejudice* is no more, and no less, than whether it is "within reasonable probabilities" that these recognized errors materially affected the jury's deliberations on counts 2-4. *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 303. No additional finding of *error* is necessary. Thus, the State's arguments in the Court of Appeals that Mr. Sigmon "waived" issues about severance or jury instructions miss the point. A party may waive an *error* by failing to object. *See* RAP 2.5. Here, Mr. Sigmon timely objected to the erroneous exclusion of J.C.'s statements, appealed those rulings, and the Court of Appeals recognized that the trial court did indeed err. A party that preserved an error cannot separately "waive" *prejudice* resulting from that recognized error.

Once an error is found, the prejudice analysis simply tasks the appellate court with making a practical determination, as to any challenged count, whether it is "within reasonable probabilities" the error materially affected the jury's deliberations on that count. *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 303. The appellate court should measure the error's potential impact on the jury's deliberations for a given count against the strength of the other evidence supporting guilt as to that count. *Id*. (citation omitted). Here, the only other evidence supporting the D.J.

counts, 2-4, consisted only of D.J.'s own testimony. The testimony of multiple other witnesses, including that of D.J.'s own social worker, contradicted D.J.'s testimony on key points that bore directly on D.J.'s credibility.

In sum, the trial court's instructions permitted the jury to consider J.C.'s credibility and the testimony supporting his allegations when deliberating on the counts of alleged abuse involving D.J. A juror using common sense would find the veracity of D.J.'s allegations more, or less, likely, depending on whether the juror believed J.C.'s near-identical testimony was credible or fabricated. Because the jury found J.C.'s allegation to be true, but only after being tainted by the improper exclusion of evidence that could have instead led a rational juror to "believe Sigmon's theory that J.C. lied," slip op. at 13, it is well within reasonable probabilities the errors materially affected the jury's deliberations regarding the D.J. counts, which were otherwise rife with reasonable doubts.

#### b. This Court should accept review.

The decision of the Court of Appeals places arbitrary, rigid limits on a reviewing court's prejudice analysis. Where the trial court erroneously excludes testimony, the reviewing court's duty to ascertain prejudice consists of no more, and no less, than determining whether it is "within reasonable probabilities" the erroneous exclusion materially affected the jury's deliberations on a given count. *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 303. This practical and commonsense analysis is not limited by an arbitrary, formalistic restriction that the erroneously excluded testimony must refer to the allegations in a given count, or involve statements by the particular complaining witness in that count, to materially affect the jury's verdict.

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