FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/13/2025 9:48 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 104385-6

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BILLY SCOTT SIGMON,

Petitioner.

Pierce County Superior Court No. 19-1-03632-1 Court of Appeals No. 58621-5

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Angela Ossman Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 56646 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-3339

# **

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

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Well-Established Law in Analyzing Prejudice From The Trial Court's Evidentiary Ruling.

Reviewing courts analyze a claim that a trial court's evidentiary ruling violated a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense under a two-part test. State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 58-63, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022). A reviewing court first determines whether the trial court's evidentiary ruling was an abuse of discretion, and if so, whether that evidentiary ruling was harmless error. Id. at 59. If the evidentiary error was not harmless, the matter is then decided on that ground. See id. Determining whether a trial court abused its discretion is a highly-fact specific analysis, as recognized by this Court in *State* v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 799-800, 453 P.3d 696 (2019). If the ruling was either harmless error or not an abuse of discretion, the court then determines whether the ruling violated the constitutional right to present a defense as a matter of law. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 59-67.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the law set forth above. After carefully examining the trial testimony, the Court held that the trial court's evidentiary ruling was both an abuse of discretion and not harmless as to the conviction involving JC. Slip op. at 9-13. The Court of Appeals examined JC's excluded statements and found that JC's statements were relevant under ER 401, met the hearsay exceptions under ER 803(a)(3), and regarding to the statement of intended revenge, that the statement was not more prejudicial than probative under ER 403. Slip op. 11-12. Thus, it held that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding the statements. *Id*. The Court then applied a thorough harmless error analysis, ultimately determining that under the facts of this case, the excluded evidence was not harmless as to Sigmon's conviction involving JC. Slip op. at 13.

The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed the scope of the error and determined that scope did not extend to Sigmon's

convictions involving DJ. The Court's determination was reasoned based on the evidence and the scope of the arguments Sigmon raised in his appeal.

It is initially noteworthy that the scope of the Court of Appeals' analysis of the evidentiary error was also consistent with the purpose for which Sigmon sought to use the evidence at trial. Each time the parties litigated the exclusion of JC's statements, Sigmon was clear that the statements were central to his defense against JC's allegation. See 7/24/23 RP 17-20 (litigating JC's "unadopt" statement, Sigmon argued the statement went to JC's motive to "tell this story, why he came up with it."); 7/24/23 RP 69-75 (litigating JC's revenge statement, Sigmon argued that JC's hostility to the members of the Sigmon home was "part and parcel for the defense theory of the case that [JC] had motive to tell this story.") The Court of Appeals recognized Sigmon only sought to use the evidence he now challenges in his defense of the allegation involving JC and proceeded through its analysis accordingly. See Slip op. at 7

(Court adding emphasis to the quoted defense argument that the evidence went to the defense theory of *JC's motive*).

The Court of Appeals astutely noted that although Sigmon "briefly" argued that the court should also reverse the convictions involving DJ if it found error, "Sigmon [did] not actually argue that the trial court made an evidentiary error with respect to his defense against the charges in which DJ was the victim." *Id.* at 13-14 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals is not required to address arguments that an appellant does not meaningfully develop. RAP 10.3(a)(6). Judicial consideration was not warranted here, where Sigmon failed to present any reasoned argument as to how his ability to defend against DJ's allegations was affected by the evidentiary error pertaining to JC. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (assertions given passing treatment, or that are unsupported by argument, will not be considered); In re Marriage of Croley, 91 Wn.2d 288, 294, 588 P.2d 738 (1978) (reviewing court will not attempt to construct an argument on an appellant's behalf when they failed to do so themselves). In addition to noting Sigmon's appeal lacked reasoned argument regarding the convictions involving DJ, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that Sigmon also did not assign error to any trial court rulings regarding DJ. *See* Br. of Appellant, 1-2. This alone could have precluded review of Sigmon's conclusory argument under RAP 10.3(a)(4) if the court so chose. *See Rudder v. Rudder*, 46 Wn.2d 428, 787-88, 282 P.2d 261 (1955) (contention unsupported by assignment of error will not be considered).

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals went on to explain why the error did not extend to DJ on the merits. The Court properly noted that "nothing in the record indicated that DJ had a motive to lie similar to JC's motive," "DJ made no statements similar to the ones JC made," and "JC's statements were unrelated to the charges involving DJ." Slip op. at 14. The Court was correct. While both victims at one point expressed a desire for Sigmon to adopt them and had not been which resulted in their continued

engagement in the foster care system,<sup>2</sup> there is no evidence that DJ was motivated by this fact to fabricate allegations against Sigmon, unlike JC, based on JC's statements. The Court of Appeals was otherwise correct that DJ did not make similar statements to JC's and that JC's statements had nothing to do with DJ.

The Court further correctly noted that the evidence regarding the crimes involving DJ were distinct from that involving JC. Slip op. at 14. The victims did not know each other. 7/17/23 RP 117; 7/18/23 RP 194. JC provided no evidence supporting the charges involving DJ, and the events JC testified to occurred years before DJ met Sigmon. 7/18/23 RP 178-80 (JC placed with Sigmon from January 10, 2014, to February 14, 2014); 7/18/23 RP 197 (DJ placed with Sigmon on March 17, 2016).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 7/17/23 RP 102; 7/18/23 RP 194; 7/24/23 RP 19, 81.

Moreover, as observed by the Court of Appeals, JC testified to a different version of events than DJ. Slip op. at 14. JC testified to one instance of abuse where Sigmon asked him and another child to apply lotion to his legs, ordered the other child outside of the room, and then Sigmon touched JC's genitals outside of JC's clothing. 7/17/23 RP 110, 112-15. Contrarily, DJ testified to multiple instances of Sigmon touching him inappropriately; his abuse included Sigmon touching DJ's genitals without DJ's clothes on; and in at least the second and third instances, Sigmon required DJ to touch him. 7/18/23 RP 198-201, 204-06.

Under the facts of this case, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that any evidentiary error pertaining to JC did not extend to DJ. Slip op. at 14. The evidence supporting DJ's abuse was his own testimony. The jury had a full opportunity to evaluate DJ's credibility at trial and the jury found him to be a credible witness as evidenced by their verdicts. The jury's determination of DJ's credibility cannot be disturbed on appeal.

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). This conclusion is further supported by the fact that the jury was instructed that it "must decide each count separately" and the jury is presumed to follow the court's instruction. *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 269-70, 830 P.2d 646 (1992).

Finally, the Court of Appeals properly denied Sigmon's motion for reconsideration. First, Sigmon again did not articulate an argument regarding how <u>his defense</u> to the charges involving DJ was impacted by the trial court's evidentiary rulings. Second, his arguments of prejudice rely on additional, unpreserved issues involving severance, joinder, and jury instructions, and on improper speculation as to how the jury weighed DJ's credibility.

Sigmon did not assign error in his opening brief to issues involving joinder, severance, or jury instructions. *See* Br. of Appellant, 1-4. He raised no objection in the trial court on these grounds, save for a defense objection to the court refusing to give

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 49.

WPIC 4.26 (jury unanimity instruction). 7/20/23 RP 322-28; CP 41-43. His only argument about these issues were in his motion to reconsider, where he offered no justification for review of the issues under RAP 2.5(a). *See* Motion, 4-10.

A motion to reconsider provides a party the opportunity to bring to the Court's attention "points of law or fact which the contends the court has overlooked or moving party misapprehended[.]" RAP 12.4(c). A motion to reconsider is not an opportunity to provide the court new arguments that a party could have made, but did not, in an opening brief. See Hoflin v. City of Ocean Shores, 121 Wn.2d 113, 130-31, 847 P.2d 428 (1993) (review of issue alluded to throughout trial proceedings but not sharply defined on appeal until motion to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration was precluded by RAP 2.5(a)). This limitation follows logically: a court cannot reconsider issues that were never raised in the first place. And a party does not escape the requirements of RAP 2.5(a) by waiting until a motion to reconsider to raise or meaningfully develop an issue. See id.

Finally, Sigmon's motion to reconsider failed on the merits. Sigmon encouraged the Court of Appeals—as he encourages this Court in his Petition—to hold that the evidentiary error pertaining to JC extended to the jury's consideration of DJ's credibility based on his speculation of how the jury concluded DJ was a credible witness. *See* Motion, 3-10; Petition, 13-22. But "[j]uries decide credibility, not appellate courts" and credibility determinations are not subject to review on appeal. *Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d at 874. The Court of Appeals correctly adhered to its original conclusion that the evidentiary error only required reversal of the conviction involving JC.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the law to the developed arguments before it and arrived at the reasoned conclusion that only reversal of the conviction involving JC was required. The Court's fact-specific analysis and sound conclusion based on the circumstances of Sigmon's case do not

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Morse v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 575, 70 P.3d 125 (2003).

give rise to a basis of review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should deny review.

B. The Court of Appeals Adhered to This Court's Well-Established Precedent When It Declined to Address Sigmon's Undeveloped Constitutional Argument Related to the Convictions Involving DJ.

It is well established that a reviewing court will proceed to a de novo review of whether a trial court's evidentiary ruling violated the right to present a defense if the court does not reverse a conviction based on an evidentiary ground. *State v. Orn*, 197 Wn.2d 343, 351-59, 482 P.3d 913 (2021). But it is equally well established that for any claim of error to be considered by a reviewing court, a party must assign error to the issue and provide argument in support of the claim. RAP 10.3(a)(4), (6).

Failure to provide reasoned argument to a claimed error permits a reviewing court to disregard the unsupported claim. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy*, 118 Wn.2d at 809. "Parties raising constitutional issues must present considered arguments to this court ... 'naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion'."

State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (citing In re Rosier, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986), quoting United States v. Phillips, 433 F.2d 1364, 1366 (8th Cir. 1970)); State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 629, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). Reviewing courts "will not decide a constitutional issue unless it is absolutely necessary for the determination of the case." State v. Zakel, 119 Wn.2d 563, 834 P.2d 1046 (1992) (string citations omitted).

Sigmon's opening and reply briefing lacked analysis regarding the charges involving DJ. In arguing the absence of harmless error, Sigmon included one paragraph listing instances where DJ's testimony was contradicted by other witnesses. Br. of Appellant, 16-18. He then included one conclusory sentence that claimed establishing JC's motive to lie was "relevant" to DJ's "motive to lie" because of the victims' "similar claims" and "similar anger." Br. of Appellant, 18. Sigmon's reply brief focused on JC's allegation and did not elaborate on how Sigmon's defense to DJ's allegations were impacted by the

evidentiary ruling, or why the evidentiary error extended to DJ. Reply Br. of Appellant, 1-9. Sigmon's motion to reconsider did not address the constitutional claim and again, did not explain how the evidentiary ruling impacted his defense of the charges involving DJ. Motion, 3-10.

The Court of Appeals properly declined to analyze whether Sigmon's right to present a defense to the charges involving DJ was violated where Sigmon did not present a reasoned argument to support the claim. The decision is not in conflict with this Court's precedent but rather adheres to this Court's well-established precedent and the Rules of Appellate Procedure that permit reviewing courts to disregard undeveloped arguments. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Finally, Sigmon attempts to delegate error to the Court of Appeals for not reaching a constitutional analysis to the convictions involving DJ that he addresses for the first time in his petition for review. The Court of Appeals was not required to construct a constitutional argument on Sigmon's behalf. *In re* 

Marriage of Croley, 91 Wn.2d at 294. This Court will not consider an issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (Supreme Court will not consider issue that was not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals). This Court should decline to consider Sigmon's constitutional argument that was not raised below.

## V. CONCLUSION

There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the Court of Appeals applied well-established precedent and conducted a thorough and fact-specific analysis based on the issues raised by Sigmon. There is also no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the Court of Appeals followed this Court's well-established precedent and the Rules of Appellate Procedure by limiting its analysis to the developed arguments in Sigmon's appeal. This Court should deny review.

///

///

This document is in 14-point font and contains 3,784 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.